

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Aspers, Patrik

# **Working Paper**

Designing for the Other: Using Knowledge to Upgrade Manufacturing in the Garment Industry

MPIfG Discussion Paper, No. 06/9

# **Provided in Cooperation with:**

Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies (MPIfG), Cologne

Suggested Citation: Aspers, Patrik (2006): Designing for the Other: Using Knowledge to Upgrade Manufacturing in the Garment Industry, MPIfG Discussion Paper, No. 06/9, Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/19937

### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



MPIfG Discussion Paper 06/9

# **Designing for the Other**

Using Knowledge to Upgrade Manufacturing in the Garment Industry

Patrik Aspers



### Patrik Aspers

Designing for the Other: Using Knowledge to Upgrade Manufacturing in the Garment Industry

MPIfG Discussion Paper 06/9 Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung Köln Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies Cologne December 2006

© 2006 by the author(s)

MPIfG Discussion Paper | ISSN 0944-2073

MPIfG Discussion Papers are refereed scholarly papers of the kind that are publishable in a peer-reviewed disciplinary journal. Their objective is to contribute to the cumulative improvement of theoretical knowledge. The papers can be ordered from the institute for a small fee (hard copies) or downloaded free of charge (PDF).

### **Downloads**

www.mpifg.de Go to *Publications/Discussion Papers* 

Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies Paulstr. 3 | 50676 Cologne | Germany

Tel. +49 221 2767-0 Fax +49 221 2767-555 www.mpifg.de

info@mpifg.de

### **Abstract**

The first purpose of this paper is to theorize on the kind of knowledge that firms need in order to upgrade. The second purpose is to discuss some specific ways to upgrade, especially given the problem of contextual knowledge that manufactures face. To understand upgrading among garment manufacturers in developing countries, we must analyze the meaning of fashion garments. The paper introduces the theoretical notion of contextual knowledge, which furthers the two main findings of the paper. The first finding is empirical: it is a different situation to have a garment-producing firm in a developing country design for final consumer markets in developed countries than it is to have garments designed by someone close to these markets. This is due to a knowledge-gap in the global market. As a result of this first finding, the second and more theoretical one deals with the knowledge context by examining its two dimensions – the lifeworld and the province of meaning.

## Zusammenfassung

In diesem Discussion Paper wird das Bestreben der Bekleidungshersteller in Entwicklungsländern, ihre Wettbewerbsfähigkeit auf globalen Modemärkten zu erhöhen, in zweierlei Hinsicht analysiert. Erstens wird theoretisch erfasst, mit welcher Art von Wissen Hersteller ihren Produkten ein hohes Ansehen im Markt verschaffen können. Zweitens werden verschiedene Möglichkeiten des Upgradings verglichen, vor allem in Bezug auf das Problem des kontextbezogenen Wissens der Hersteller. Damit verständlich wird, was eine solche "Wertsteigerung" für die Modeindustrie in Entwicklungsländern bedeutet, werden zunächst die Bedeutungs- und Sinnzuschreibungen von Markenmode analysiert. Die Darlegung der theoretischen Auffassung kontextbezogenen Wissens fördert zwei Erkenntnisse zutage, wobei die erste empirischer Natur ist: Es ist ein Unterscheid, ob man einen Bekleidungshersteller in einem Entwicklungsland für den Endverbrauchermarkt eines Industrielandes produzieren lässt oder jemanden, der zu diesen Märkten die räumliche und kulturelle Nähe hat. Der Grund dafür ist eine Wissenslücke im globalen Markt. Folgerichtig bezieht sich die zweite, theoretischere Erkenntnis auf die beiden Dimensionen des Wissenskontextes: die Lebenswelt und die Bedeutungswelt.

# **Contents**

1	Introduction	5
2	Field and methods	6
3	The garment industry	7
4	Producing clothes	8
5	Information and knowledge	9
6	Contextual knowledge	11
7	Contextual knowledge in the fashion industry	12
8	Upgrading strategies	14
9	Discussion	16
References		18

### 1 Introduction

Garment production is a typical example of a global industry. Production takes place in developing countries, while design and marketing are carried out in main offices located in developed countries, often in global cities (Sassen 2001: xx) where fashion trends are set. This means that consumption is separated from production not only by physical distance, but also often by other forms of distance, such as religious, economic, linguistic, and cultural. As a consequence, manufacturers in developing countries who produce garments are embedded in a different form of economy and face other sorts of problems than do retailers.

How does the distance between marketing and design locations, on the one hand, and production locations, on the other, affect garment manufacturers in developing countries? What strategies can they use to improve their situation? This essentially theoretical paper focuses on the knowledge that is needed to upgrade through design in the global garment industry. The purpose of this paper is twofold. Firstly, I theorize on the kind of knowledge that is needed for firms to upgrade. I call this "contextual knowledge." Secondly, I discuss certain ways to upgrade, especially given the problem of contextual knowledge that manufactures face.

Upgrading can be defined as "enhancing the relative competitive position of the firm" (Schmitz/Knorringa 2000: 181). Upgrading through design (e.g., Gereffi 1999; Skov 2002, 2003) is related to the way manufacturers learn from their buyers (Gereffi/Humphrey/Sturgeon 2005; Tokatli/Eldener 2004; Bair/Gereffi 2002: 37; Peters/Durán/Piore 2002; Schmitz/Knorringa 2000; Knorringa 2002; Yoruk 2001). I will not focus on two obvious preconditions of upgrading, namely, economic capital and access to global markets (cf. Gereffi/Humphrey/Sturgeon 2005: 99–100).

In the network literature (e.g., Burt 1992) it is claimed that the producers can face an information problem; some positions are simply receiving less information. This is implicitly a reason why they cannot upgrade. In this paper I will qualify this simple idea, for it ignores the aspects of knowledge and interpretation. Furthermore, according to some scholars (Schmitz and Knorringa 2000), the literature on upgrading so far has been too focused on material conditions, e.g., "technology transfer" (Schrank 2004),

I gratefully acknowledge the financial support I received from the Axel and Margaret Ax:son Johnson Foundation. The paper has benefited from discussions with and comments by Jens Beckert, Caroline Dahlberg, Richard Swedberg, and not the least by the two internal reviewers at the Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Stefanie Hiß and Olga Maletz. Earlier drafts of this paper were presented at Department of Sociology, Gothenburg University in 2004, and at the ISS conference in Stockholm in 2005.

Firms can upgrade both their processes and their products. The third way to upgrade is to move into the more value-added and in many cases more profitable areas of design and marketing (see also Gereffi 1999: 51–55). This suggests that producers can learn either directly from foreign buyers or indirectly by using them as benchmarks (e.g., Amsden 2001: 55, 286).

and on "clustering" (Giuliani/Pieterobelli/Rabellotti 2005). This means that the upgrading of firms operating in the global garment industry and of firms in other industries producing for aesthetic markets (Aspers 2001, 2005a) is not well understood. Aesthetic markets lack clear standards for evaluating products (Aspers 2005b), and it is especially critical that we consider the role played by knowledge in this context. The concept of contextual knowledge contributes to the literature dealing with knowledge, which has not paid enough attention so far to the combination of knowledge and the situation in which it is used (Aspers 2006).

#### 2 Field and methods

Although the main thrust of this paper is theoretical, the arguments presented here are demonstrated in relation to empirical material and supported by evidence. The empirical research is restricted to one segment of garment sellers, namely, large retail chains (such as Topshop, H&M, Zara, and Marks and Spencer). These are studied in two European fashion markets, Sweden and the United Kingdom. This survey is enhanced by examining the garment manufacturers whom retailers deal with somewhat farther up the production chain in two countries, India and Turkey. In both countries we find high-fashion production, which can include design input, and low-fashion production. The idea here is not to conduct a comparative study featuring countries as units; the variation is used instead to safeguard the generality of the empirical findings at the firm level.

The empirical evidence draws on several sources of material. I did fieldwork for two months in India, for one month in Turkey, and for much longer in Sweden and in the UK. Participant observation was carried out at factories and garment and fashion fairs. From 2002 to 2004, twenty-seven interviews were conducted with merchandisers, designers, owners, and buyers. Most of the interviews took place in India and Turkey, and the majority of the respondents were theoretically sampled, which means that I traced the chain from a retailer, through a buying office, to its manufacturers. Two other sources of empirical material used in this study were trade magazines and websites.

This research design enabled me to identify different kinds of knowledge. The concept contextual knowledge is the result of the development and differentiation of the initial code "knowledge" in the empirical material. This differentiation was initiated by the

<sup>2</sup> Compare the notions of aesthetic economy (Entwistle 2002) and cultural economy (Du Gay/ Pryke 2000), as well as that of the knowledge economy (cf. Barry/Slater 2005).

I have used literature that is more oriented toward the practical aspects of knowledge rather than literature on the sociology of knowledge. The connection between these two bodies of literature is unclear (Swidler/Arditi 1994: 321).

discussion carried on in the literature on knowledge and is supported by empirical material. The study, in sum, starts from a theoretical framework and ends with a more developed framework for conceptualizing and understanding knowledge. I use the whole of my material as a background for interpreting the concrete pieces of evidence I present here. Hence, the validity of the results must be seen in relation to the entire range of material.

### 3 The garment industry

Today, every study of the fashion industry must acknowledge the industry's global dimension (e.g., Aspers/Skov 2006; Kellner 2002; Gibbon 2001; Schmitz/Knorringa 2000; Knorringa 1995). The term globalization, as used in this paper, refers to the way culture, economy, politics, and other fields are transformed in terms of dependence patterns. While the dependencies that used to exist on the levels of kinship, locality, or nation are still important, the impact of globalization means that they are gradually being augmented by dependencies on the global level.

The garment industry epitomizes the process of globalization. In many countries, the first step toward industrialization and factory production took place in this industry (Amsden 2001: 93ff.; Weber [1923]1981: 162–177). However, the input of labor into the work process has not substantially decreased (Johnson 1985: 57). Over time, production moved – largely because of increased labor costs – first from northern Europe and northern America to the southern parts of Europe and the United States and later to Asia and countries in Eastern Europe. Some manufacturers have upgraded from assembly production to "full package production," which means that they "develop the capability to interpret designs, make samples, source the needed inputs, monitor product quality, meet the buyer's price and guarantee on time-delivery" (Gereffi/Humphrey/Sturgeon 2005: 92). Upgrading can be seen as a form of vacancy chain process (White 1970), in which the functions remain the same but the firms are interchangeable (even internationally; see Palpacuer/Gibbon/Thomsen 2005; Gereffi 1999; Bair/Gereffi 2002). For manufacturers, the next step on the upgrading ladder is to develop brands of their own; this step is not studied here.

The global commodity/value chains school of thought has stressed how the economy – via production networks – is tied up in chains. The garment industry is discussed in

The largest share of imports to the EU in 2004 (according to the WTO) came from China (13%) Turkey (8%), Romania (4%), Bangladesh (4%). Importation among EU countries represented 46% of total imports. Imports into the U.S. came from China (35%), Bangladesh (7%), the European Union (6%), India (6%), Mexico (5%) Hong Kong, China, (4%). The U.S. produced 9% domestically. In both cases, approximately 30 other exporting countries produced the rest of the garments, bringing the totals to 100%.

several studies (e.g., Gereffi 1994; 1999; Bair/Gereffi 2001; Gibbon 2001). Korzeniewicz (1994) uses this approach to analyze the commodity chain driven by Nike and emphasized that the chain must be understood in relation to the final market, where the symbolic values of commodities are determined.

Korzeniewicz's study indicates that a fashion designer must "understand" how commodities get their meaning. Garments are loaded with meaning in the interaction between final consumers and the retailer (or brand name), and this gives clothing a social value that differs considerably depending on where in the chain the object is located (e.g. Slater 2002: 71–73; Baudrillard [1976]1993: 88). In order to analyze the role of information and knowledge needed by a designer working for a manufacturer who caters to European fashion markets, we must first better understand the production process of the industry and the conditions facing manufacturers and their designers in developing countries.

# 4 Producing clothes

What happens in the final consumer market of a production chain has repercussions farther up the chain. Each retailer has an identity in the final consumer market and a corresponding market niche (White 2002). This identity specifies the kind of clothes the designer should make (i.e., trousers, pants, shirts), and how much they can cost.

The production process usually begins with design. Designers are inspired by many things and utilize information from fairs, catwalk shows, local street fashion, films, and music videos. They may also use trend analysts to gain information (see Slater/Tonkiss 2001: 176–181; McRobbie 1998). After the designers have created a line of clothes for the upcoming season, buyers take over and try to find manufacturers who can produce it. One manufacturer described this process from her perspective: "Most of the time the buyers have their own designers who work on their lines. So they bring us their sketches, and they see what we can offer them." The task of the manufacturer is to respond with a price, given the quantity, quality, fabrics, shipping, and lead time. This dialogue is often part of a relationship that has existed for years (see Lane/Probert 2006).

Although designers create much of what buyers then have manufacturers produce, some manufacturers also have their own fashion lines. Rarely do they sell their lines under their own labels. Instead, these lines are used to attract buyers and serve as an indication and proof of the production quality. One manufacturer explained that "[if the retailers'] designers ... like some of our work, they can mold them according to their [company's] saleability. They take ideas from our showroom, from our collection, and make changes according to their collection, depending on what can sell." In other words, designers in developing countries contribute to the fashion line that retailers and others sell in de-

veloped countries. But this contribution is based to some extent on a "trial and error" process, in which the manufacturer gradually learns what a specific buyer wants, and does not represent general knowledge of the market to which its buyers cater. The next step in the process is to produce the garments. Finally, the items produced are shipped to stores, where they are sold.

# 5 Information and knowledge

In order to discover how to conceptualize the knowledge that designers need, I start by looking at the literature dealing with knowledge, a concept that must be distinguished from that of information. Alice Amsden (2001: 3) differentiates between them, arguing that information is factual, whereas knowledge is conceptual.<sup>5</sup> Amsden's approach suspends the assumption of perfect information. Given this, it is not far-fetched to also challenge the assumption of perfect knowledge, since knowledge is likely to be stratified (Schütz 1964: 120–134).<sup>6</sup> However, it is still not clear what knowledge is (see the discussion on skills in Schütz/Luckmann 1973 I: 106–107).

To address this question, I turn to three scholars who complement our understanding of knowledge: Anthony Giddens, Pierre Bourdieu, and Karin Knorr-Cetina. Giddens' notion of "practical consciousness," I argue, covers broadly the same ground as the notion of implicit knowledge. Giddens defines this notion as "what actors know (believe) about social conditions, including especially the conditions of their own action, but cannot express discursively [verbally]" (1984: 375, cf. 328). Implicit knowledge applies to "rules and tactics whereby daily social life is constituted and reconstituted over time and space" (Giddens 1984: 90).

Bourdieu's notions of habitus and practice, which are connected to his discussion of practical internalized knowledge, may take us a bit further. Bourdieu ([1972]1977: 2-3) contrasts practical knowledge with forms of theoretical knowledge and argues that the

<sup>5</sup> Some well-known scholars in this field seem to confuse information and knowledge (Gereffi/ Humphrey/Sturgeon 2005: 86).

A certain amount of knowledge will often be sufficient for the "purpose at hand," as Schütz puts it. We can, for example, drive a car without knowing how the engine works. An expert, for example, will have "opinions ... based upon warranted assertions; his judgments are not mere guesswork or loose suppositions" (Schütz 1964: 122). In between these two extreme ideal types Schütz identifies the "well-informed citizen." These types represent different levels of knowledge.

<sup>7</sup> It could be argued that the idea of practical knowledge originated with Aristotle (*Nichoma-chean Ethics*). The literature on this field is abundant and not possible to review here (but see, for example, Rotenstreich 1977; Schatzki/Knorr Cetina/Savigny 2001; Shapiro/Wagner DeCew 1995).

<sup>8</sup> MacKenzie and Spinardi (1995: 45) use the notions of implicit knowledge, non-explicit and non-codified knowledge as more or less exchangeable.

former is embodied in "habitus, which is constituted in practice" ([1980]1990: 52). However, he admits that the analysis of practice is complicated and has expressed dissatisfaction with his accomplishment. The idea of practical knowledge is suitable for an explanation of what designers do with their hands, and Bourdieu manages to include the influence of an actor's unconscious (Bourdieu and Wacquant [1992]2002: 128–129) as well as to discuss the important role of an actor's position in the game (e.g., Bourdieu [1992]1996: 21). Occasionally, researchers refer to embodied knowledge by using terms such as Fingerspitzengefühl, "gut-feeling," or "feel for the game" (Bourdieu [1980]1990: 66). While these terms give some idea as to what is going on, they also mystify and individualize knowledge through the references to the body. Bourdieu's idea covers the practice of design, but what about the knowledge that a designer needs? This latter type of knowledge, according to Bourdieu ([1980]1990: 66), is a result of the experience and exposure of habitus in a specific field. Consequently, both Giddens and Bourdieu are largely occupied with the type of knowledge that is embodied in and related to experience but is hard to convey using language.

Knorr-Cetina has used the notion of knowledge in science studies. In her version, knowledge is no longer "seen as statements of scientific belief, as technological application, or perhaps intellectual property." Her definition "switches the emphasis to knowledge as practiced – within structures, processes, and environments that make up specific epistemic settings" (1999: 8). Knorr-Cetina's notion points to a central aspect, namely the non-universal character of knowledge. Thus, information may be universal and not the most theoretically important aspect, especially if it is fairly easy to access (cf. Luhmann [1984]1995: 67).

The abovementioned views acknowledge the complexity of knowledge and reject the atomistic container view that knowledge can be transferred like physical objects; an idea that also dominates the literature on upgrading. Bourdieu hints at the role of actors' positions for knowledge, but it is only Knorr-Cetina who focuses on the context, rather than the individual. To further the discussion, I introduce contextual knowledge as a theoretical concept.

Bourdieu tells us what he thinks is needed to form a science of practical knowledge: "[O]ne would need to collect methodologically all the notes and observations which, dispersed here and there, especially in the didactics of these physical skills – sports, obviously, and more especially the martial arts, but also theatrical activities and the playing of musical instruments" (Bourdieu [1997]2000: 144; see also [1980]1990, e.g.: 80–97, 269–270).

### 6 Contextual knowledge

Contextual knowledge represents a sociological approach that avoids both the Nietz-schean idea of consciousness as a tool of the body (e.g., "gut-feeling") and the Cartesian idea of the body as a tool of consciousness (i.e., pure intellectual knowledge). Instead, it focuses on the fact that knowledge must be related to social situations and conditions as suggested by Knorr-Cetina (cf. Hayek 1945: 521–522). Contextual knowledge, I claim, is only useful in certain contexts (or local "cultures") and is not something that can be transferred from one setting to another. This notion focuses on the conditions of knowledge rather than describing or defining knowledge. <sup>10</sup> The concept implies a further distinction between two elements: the lifeworld and the specific province of meaning.

The lifeworld refers to what people take for granted and do not question, such as basic values, propositions, facts, and so on. The lifeworld is the everyday world in which people live with a natural attitude; it is "constantly pregiven" (Schütz [1932]1976: 74, [1966]1975: 5, 116–132). The socially produced lifeworld (Schütz [1966]1975: 119–120, 131; Berger/Luckmann [1966]1995: 13) is always the backdrop of the interpretations that people make (see Heidegger [1926]2001). This is to say that contextual knowledge has an interpretative component, in contrast to information, which is factual. My use of this concept implies that people can live in more or less different lifeworlds. Hence, contextual knowledge is bound to a specific lifeworld in most cases. Since not all people living in a lifeworld are able to predict what will be in vogue, contextual knowledge must contain something else.

The second element of contextual knowledge is the province of meaning. The information that designers use comes from different provinces of meaning and is ultimately interpreted by designers drawing on their lifeworld. Provinces of meaning have different cognitive styles. Schütz stresses the cognitive aspects because "it is our meaning of our experiences and not the ontological structure of the objects which constitutes reality" (1962: 230, see 1996: 36–38). Thus, Schütz argues that meaning is constructed in communities or domains (see Schütz/Luckmann 1973 I: 109ff.), which he calls "finite provinces of meaning" (Schütz 1962: 230–234). They are finite because there is no formula for transformation between them, such as "religion," "science," and "art."

<sup>10</sup> See also Haraway's ([1991]2004) notion of situated knowledge. Situated knowledge is used by feminist writers (e.g., Enslin 1994) but refers to epistemology and politics. Indigenous knowledge means "to make connections between local people's practices and understanding and those of outside researchers and development workers" (Sillitoe 1998:224) and is used to promote development. Geertz talks about local knowledge, which includes "sailing, gardening, politics and poetics" (1983: 167) as well as large-scale patterns of thinking such as religion (1983: 234). Geertz sees the law as an example of local knowledge; to have knowledge is to have "legal sensibility" (1983: 215). My point is that one needs knowledge to decode the social structure producing fashion – this is not the equivalent to *knowing* the law.

# 7 Contextual knowledge in the fashion industry

In order to apply this theoretical concept to the analysis of garment designers, I first distinguish between information and knowledge. Is it not enough for manufacturers to be informed about the trends? No, the information flow between garment retailers and their manufacturers suggests that there are certain things that manufacturers located in developing countries cannot do. One manufacturer explained that buyers "help us [by telling us] what kind of product they are looking for," yet it is still not easy to turn this information into something that sells. Factory designers do not lack the skills to design, what they lack is the knowledge of what will make it in the market. As one manufacturer put it when talking about the designs produced by her firm: "if it doesn't sell – what's the point? They [the buyers] are in the market, they have to be there all the time, and decide what is going to sell and not."

Contextual knowledge is not easy to acquire, since it is a combination of the province of meaning and the more profound lifeworld. I would like to begin with the analysis of the province of meaning. Fashion can be seen as a province of meaning with its own logic and "cognitive style." In the world of fashion, knowledge of the specific province of meaning implies that the actor knows who the players are in her field of fashion, how fashion is diffused, who is wearing what and, above all, what this means for her market. This includes the designer's knowledge about the way fashion is constructed in her market (see Entwistle 2000: 208–236), and about the identity of her firm (i.e., the retailer she designs for) and the identities of competing retailers (see White 2002). She also knows what it takes to reinterpret an upcoming trend for her firm in order to make it different from her competitors' interpretations and their fashion lines.

Even if designers across the world have access to the same information about fabrics and color trends, they are not likely to interpret it in the same way (see Allen 2002: 44). I suggest that people who work as designers and who can draw on the same background as their customers have an advantage, since they "know" what their customers want. The designer can rely to some extent on her own preferences because she has the same meaning structure as her customers. As a result, she takes many and largely the same things for granted; she shares values, history, and similar things with others. This makes it more likely that she will perceive an object, such as a shirt, in a similar way that others will because she and her customers have been brought up in the same lifeworld. This knowledge, then, is based on their combination of a province of meaning (the fashion world) and the lifeworld of their home-market. I will study this empirically further on.

The fashion that matters to a manufacturer may be very local. A high-ranking executive of an Indian manufacturing firm that had Swedish customers said: "the trends come from Sweden." Although few would agree that fashion trends actually come from Sweden, this is the reality for designers who have their buyers in Sweden. Thus a designer in a developing country who is designing for a specific market in a developed country cannot design by simply following general fashion trends. While the markets are not totally

different, the differences are in many cases large enough to make buyers from different countries buy different things. Retailers may also differentiate their fashion line, not only between countries, but also between the stores within a country and even between stores in the same city. This indicates how hard it is to know the province of meaning, i.e., the fashion context, if one is located in a developing country.

The detailed knowledge of the province of meaning that retailers have is not easy to transfer into a codified form (see Entwistle 2006). As a result, it is difficult for manufacturers to make independent decisions on design-related issues. One manufacturer explained: "We cannot do it on our own, we do not know the market over there [and] what is going to sell." She therefore talked about her relation with buyers as "big teamwork," as a dialogue in which the buyer informs the manufacturing firm what she wants, but also provides feedback on the manufacturer's different samples. In this process, the manufacturer becomes attuned to the demands of the market (Tokatli/Eldener 2004) and can learn from the buyers.

It is important for a designer in this industry to have both the baseline of interpretation that the lifeworld provides and the knowledge of specific provinces of meaning. This, for example, was clear in a conversation I had with one buyer in India who represented a northern European firm where she had been based for several years. She was raised in the country where her company is based, which means that she shares the lifeworld with her customers. I asked her how she keeps up with fashion while she is in India. She said that it is hard to do, but told me that she reads a lot of fashion magazines and tries not to stay out of her home country for long periods of time. Thus, it is easier to lose contact with the concrete manifestation of the province of meaning in fashion than it is to lose contact with the more profound lifeworld. The key issue is that an actor can keep up with the province of meaning; her lifeworld remains essentially the same. I will now focus on the lifeworld.

The visual dimension (cf. Entwistle/Rocamora 2006: 742–745) shows the importance of the lifeworld in the role of contextual knowledge. Advertisements, movies, music videos, and the "look" of fashion garments are important dimensions of fashion, not as pure information, but as informational objects of interpretation. Understanding the meaning of a picture or seeing it in the same way that someone else does is a result of shared experiences, schooling, and other similarities; in short, what Schütz calls "growing old together" (1964: 161, 177). Consider the case of a designer dress worn by someone like Victoria Beckham or Madonna at the opening night of a show. The dress is highly praised in the fashion and gossip press and, as a result, may affect contemporary fashion. Still, specific interpretations of the dress differ among countries and among competing firms within countries. Again, people are more likely to interpret the meaning of the dress in a similar way when they have both a lifeworld and a province of meaning in common. This observation is supported by the fact that, to my knowledge, no buyers or designers are from production countries, even though the heads of retailers' buying offices may indeed be a local person. This indicates how difficult it is to per-

form tasks that are said to demand "gut-feeling," i.e., what I see as contextual knowledge drawing on the lifeworld.

Thus, the designer who is not embedded in the lifeworld of the market to which her firm caters will find it difficult to predict what will be in vogue. Manufacturers are usually aware of their problem, and one described what it takes to design for European markets: "One has to have IQ and an eye to see what people like; it must look nice." This person tended to see design as a capacity that one is either born with or not. Furthermore, he said that one must be able to know how to make a designed item fashionable, such as a shirt. This may not always be easy, and later in the interview he said, "some of the things that do sell in Europe ... I do not understand. I don't like them." This manufacturer is neither in tune with the lifeworld nor the province of meaning of the market to which he caters, which means that he is not in a good position to upgrade his business by means of design. If the factory designers do not "understand" fashion in the same way as their buyers and the final customers do, they are essentially disqualified to design for this market.

# 8 Upgrading strategies

So far I have only indirectly discussed ways for manufacturers to upgrade. What strategies can manufacturers use to improve their situation? In many cases it is sufficient to gain this information once and then float along by staying up-to-date on the newest technology that suppliers are willing to sell. This approach, however, is insufficient for garment designers and firms in developing countries who want to sell their products to high-fashion retailers in the developed world. They must acquire knowledge about both cultural and more concrete fashion changes that take place in the markets to which they cater. This means, in other words, that they have to understand the market, almost as hermeneutical philosophers suggest (Gadamer ([1986]1989). Understanding is a process, and it is a good upgrading strategy to establish long-term relations with buyers.

What other strategies can be used? Manufacturers in developing countries may overcome some problems, such as the issue of contextual knowledge (see Schmitz/Knorringa 2000: 197), by hiring Western designers and seeking out various forms of joint venture. This is a way to upgrade by buying know-how from an expert culture (see Amsden 2001: 238–239, 271). The following quotation from a representative of a large European buyer suggests that this is what manufacturers do: "They all hire European designers. Either they send them concepts [that they develop together with the Western designer], or she [the designer] comes here two weeks or three weeks and builds up the whole line for them." In other words, this knowledge is so hard to generate within the organization that firms spend large sums to hire designers from the countries to which they normally cater. Other manufacturers think that there are some serious problems with hiring de-

signers because, "when we design a thing, the designer has to think about the merchantability – will it be possible to sell it to the masses?" The designer has to keep in mind, for example, the price range and the skills of the workforce, which in turn is translated into what the factory can produce and what fabrics can be used. These aspects, I was told, are not always of prime interest to foreign designers. This observation of an upgrading strategy supports the theoretical argument of this paper – that contextual knowledge is important and a real problem for many manufacturers. Although design is a solution for those who want to upgrade (Yoruk 2001: 13–14), it also adds yet another problem to those already facing garment manufacturers in developing countries (see Schmitz and Knorringa 2000: 202).

A different strategy for manufacturers is to target their home markets, thereby cutting many costs, including those for information and knowledge. A correlated strategy is to cater to neighboring or less advanced markets. Turkish firms have used this strategy with the help of a business organization. According to a representative of this organization, these firms have "very well-known brands in Russia or in [the] Ukraine ... that we have not heard of." Marketing is often less costly in developing countries, and for some firms it may be a good way to learn the ropes of the industry in a less competitive environment. The precondition for this strategy to become successful is the existence of a large number of consumers, who also force manufacturers to be design-oriented. If this is the case, a manufacturer can upgrade by operating in a less competitive market. However, the lower demands in these markets means that these firms may not automatically meet the often higher demands from global buyers that force the manufacturing firm to increase the quality of its production process.

To have high-quality production is advantageous when a manufacturer faces other buyers. For example, the code of conduct that buyers enforce on their manufacturers may initially be seen, in the eyes of the manufacturers, as a burden. However, this may change over time, as expressed by the head of a manufacturing firm: "Now we realize the advantages, so it is not only that we are doing it because it is compulsory." Thus, the manufacturer's competitive edge is sharpened if the firm takes part in the global market competition. One solution is to learn from the global buyers and simultaneously develop a brand for the local market (Tokatli/Eledener 2004).

Another strategy is to succumb to copying. Since some garments have a short turn-around time, often as little as three to ten weeks, it is not easy to first go to the stores, copy an item, and then export it back to the same market in time to still make a profit. One buyer working for a retailer said that to succeed in the "fashion business, it is important that you have the goods at the right time; you have to be quick to catch the trains." Therefore, once the copying process is finished, the item may be out of fashion and one cannot get the same added value.

Globalization and emigration do offer one definite advantage that I have come across during my research: the manufacturer can use personal networks of countrymen who

live in Western countries as resource pools of middlemen in their business. With the help of these networks, it becomes possible to have contact persons who live in the final consumer market culture and can advise manufacturers. One Indian businessman living in Sweden was the representative of an Indian garment company owned by his brother, who lived in India. He attended trade fairs in Sweden, visited customers regularly, and thereby gradually became knowledgeable of the market and customers' demands. This knowledge can be used to design clothes that may sell well in the market. Another Indian I interviewed in New Delhi used a similar strategy. He had a business partner of Indian origin based in a Western country. From his very small "factory" in a residential area (which is illegal), he shipped low fashion garments to overseas customers. Manufacturers can use these kinds of connections and relations to the markets as a stepping-stone toward upgrading the firm by increasing the stylishness and hence the price of the garments.

Historically, upgrading has raised problems for globalized industries, and the state has a role to play in supporting firms in their endeavor to upgrade (see Amsden 2001). In addition to open sources of information, both firm-based and state-organized espionage have been utilized. Political strategies, such as organizing the suppliers and providing scholarships to students to study at well-known design schools in the West, have also been used by nations to improve the competitive advantage of their manufacturers in the global garment industry.

### 9 Discussion

The concept of contextual knowledge offers a way to conceptualize the gap between the final consumers and retail designers, on the one hand, and factory designers and the rest of the workforce in garment manufacturing firms in developing countries, on the other. To achieve upgrading, I think it is important to be aware that markets differ. By introducing the concept of contextual knowledge, I do not rely on explanations based on either "cultural difference" (the collectivistic fallacy) or designers' individual gifts and "gut-feelings" (the atomistic fallacy). I study what structures knowledge, rather than the embodiment of knowledge, or knowledge as an object. Contextual knowledge refers both to the lifeworld and the province of meaning. Hence, this phenomenologically grounded approach links the cultural, cognitive and social sides of knowledge and stresses its interpretative character. This approach to knowledge also draws on symbolic interactionism, because it is the combined effect of the individual, with her "knowledge," and the context in which the "knowledge" is credited that enable us to talk of knowledge.

The knowledge needed to design sellable fashion garments in a consumer market can be divided into two forms. The first is embodied knowledge: sewing, draping, and the like. Moreover, the staff and the owner of a firm must know how to conduct business, both in terms of culture and in a technical production-oriented sense. <sup>11</sup> Although this practical and partly implicit (non-discursive) knowledge is a condition for operating in the market, it is not the most crucial aspect in the process of upgrading in the garment industry. The second form is contextual knowledge.

Knowing what kind of design will be in vogue is not easy for any actor in this industry. There are no standards to evaluate beforehand whether the product will sell in the market or not; only the market can tell. It is, put differently, more difficult to learn and transfer knowledge about designing successfully in the garment industry than in more standard technologies (see Gibbons et al. 1994: 119; Gereffi/Humphrey/Sturgeon 2005). In one sense, it is even harder than learning how to make an atomic bomb, to refer to the discussion by MacKenzie and Spinardi (1995).

Thus, garment manufacturers can learn about production techniques and business skills, but learning about design is much harder. This is very important since the role of design is a very significant one in this industry, one likely to become even more vital in the future as aesthetics become more important in contemporary global society (see Aspers 2001, 2005a; Lash 1994; Gronow 1997; Allen 2002: 41).

One may be able to accept all that has been said here and still argue that it is no more than a description of the traditional problems firms face when entering new markets. But let me again point out that the fashion garment market is not one in which hard facts about the products will convince the consumer to buy. We are dealing here with a problem of a qualitatively new dimension. Even if a firm has the capital to establish itself in a new consumer market, it still must also understand this market – a task that is time consuming and difficult if one uses one's own culturally embedded meaning structure to interpret what one observes. Viewed from this perspective, designing for the Other is merely one instance of the wider sociological problem of understanding the Other.

<sup>11</sup> Technologies like the Internet and computer-aided design and manufacturing (CAD/CAM) can facilitate the undertaking.

#### References

- Allen, John, 2002: Symbolic Economies: The 'Culturalization' of Economic Knowledge. In: Paul du Gay/Michael Pryke (eds.), *Cultural Economy, Cultural Analysis and Commercial Life.* London: Sage, 39–58.
- Amsden, Alice, 2001: The Rise of the "Rest": Challenges to the West From Late-Industrializing Economies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Aristotle, *The Nicomachean Ethics*. Translated by Terence Irwin. Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing Company.
- Aspers, Patrik, 2001: A Market in Vogue: Fashion Photography in Sweden. In: *European Societies* 3(1), 1–22.
- —, 2005a: Markets in Fashion: A Phenomenological Approach. London: Routledge.
- ——, 2005b: *Status and Standard Markets in the Global Fashion Industry*. MPIfG Discussion Paper 05/10. Cologne: Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies.
- —, 2006: Contextual Knowledge. In: Current Sociology 54(5), 745–763.
- Aspers, Patrik/Lise Skov, 2006: Afterword. In: Current Sociology 54(5), 802–813.
- Bair, Jennifer/Gary Gereffi, 2001: Local Clusters in Global Chains: The Causes and Consequences of Export Dynamism in Torreon's Blue Jeans Industry. In: *World Development* 29(11), 1885–1903.
- ——, 2002: NAFTA and the Apparel Commodity Chain: Corporate Strategies, Interfirm Networks, and Industrial Upgrading. In: Gary Gereffi/David Spener/Jennifer Bairin (eds.), *Free Trade and Uneven Development: The North American Apparel Industry after NAFTA*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 23–50.
- Barry, Andrew/Don Slater (eds.), 2005: The Technological Economy. London: Routledge.
- Baudrillard, Jean, [1976] 1993: Symbolic Exchange and Death. London: Sage.
- Berger, Peter/Thomas Luckmann, [1966]1995: *The Social Construction of Reality*. New York: Anchor Books.
- Bourdieu, Pierre, [1972] 1977: Outline of a Theory of Practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- —, [1980]1990: The Logic of Practice. Cambridge: Polity.
- ——, [1992]1996: *The Rules of Art, Genesis and Structure of the Literary Field.* Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- -----, [1997]2000: Pascalian Meditations. Cambridge: Polity.
- Bourdieu, Pierre/Loic Wacquant, [1992]2002: An Invitation to Reflexive Sociology. Cambridge: Polity.
- Burt, Ronald, 1992: *Structural Holes: The Social Structure of Competition*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Du Gay, Paul/Michael Pryke (eds.), 2000: *Cultural Economy, Cultural Analysis and Commercial Life*. London: Sage.
- Enslin, Elizabeth, 1994: Beyond Writing: Feminist Practice and the Limitations of Ethnography. In: *Cultural Anthropology* 9(4), 537–568.
- Entwistle, Joanne, 2000: *The Fashioned Body: Fashion, Dress and Modern Social Theory.* Cambridge: Polity.
- ——, 2002: The Aesthetic Economy: The Production of Value in the Field of Fashion Modelling. In: *Journal of Consumer Culture* 2(3), 317–340.
- Entwistle, Joanne, 2006: The Cultural Economy of Fashion Buying. In: *Current Sociology* 54(5), 704–724.
- Entwistle, Joanne/Agnés Rocamora, 2006: The Field of Fashion Materialized: A Study of London Fashion Week. In: *Sociology* 40(8), 735–751.
- Gadamer, Hans Georg, [1986] 1989: Truth and Method. 2nd. rev. edition. New York: Continuum.
- Geertz, Clifford, 1983: Local Knowledge: Further Essays in Interpretative Anthropology. New York: Basic Books.
- Gereffi, Gary, 1994: The Organization of Buyer-Driven Global Commodity Chains: How U.S. Retailers Shape Overseas Production Networks. In: Gary Gereffi/Miguel Korzeniewics (eds.), *Commodity Chains and Global Capitalism*. Westport: Praeger, 95–123.

- Gereffi, Gary, 1999: International Trade and Industrial Upgrading in the Apparel Commodity Chain. In: *Journal of International Economics* 48, 37–70.
- Gereffi, Gary/John Humphrey/Timothy Sturgeon, 2005: The Governance of Global Value Chains. In: *Review of International Political Economy* 12(1), 78–104.
- Gibbon, Peter, 2001: Upgrading Primary Production: A Global Commodity Chain Approach. In: *World Development* 29(2), 345–363.
- Gibbons, Michael, et al., 1994: The New Production of Knowledge: The Dynamics of Science and Research in Contemporary Societies. London: Sage.
- Giddens, Anthony, 1984: *The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Gronow, Jukka, 1997: The Sociology of Taste. London: Routledge.
- Giuliani, Elisa/Carlo Pietrobelli/Roberta Rabellotti, 2005: Upgrading in Global Value Chains: Lessons from Latin American Clusters. In: *World Development* 33(4), 549–573.
- Harraway, Donna, [1991]2004: Situated Knowledge: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of Partial Perspective. In: Sandra Harding (ed.), *The Feminist Standpoint Theory Reader, Intellectual and Political Controversies*. London: Routledge, 81–102.
- Hayek, Friedrich, 1945: The Use of Knowledge in Society. In: *The American Economic Review* 35(4), 519–530.
- Heidegger, Martin, [1926] 2001: Sein und Zeit. Tübingen: Max Niemeyer Verlag.
- Johnson, Merrill, 1985: Postwar Industrial Development in the Southeast and the Pioneer Role of Labor-intensive Industry. In: *Economic Geography* 61(1), 46–65.
- Kellner, Douglas, 2002: Theorizing Globalization. In: Sociological Theory 20(3), 285–305.
- Knorr-Cetina, Karin, 1999: *Epistemic Culture: How the Sciences Make Knowledge*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Knorringa, Peter, 1995: Economics of Collaboration in Producer-Trader Relations: Transaction Regimes Between Markets and Hierarchy in the Agra Footwear Cluster, India. Dissertation thesis. Den Haag: CIP-DATA, Koninklijke Bibliotheek.
- ——, 2002: Cluster Trajectories and the Likelihood of Endogenous Upgrading. In: Pieter van Dijk/ Henry Sandee (eds.), *Innovation and Small Enterprises in the Third World*. Cheltham: Edward Elgar, 48–65.
- Korzeniewics, Miguel, 1994: Commodity Chains and Marketing Strategies: Nike and the Global Footwear Industry. In: Gary Gereffi/Miguel Korzeniewics (eds.), *Commodity Chains and Global Capitalism*. Westport: Praeger, 247–266.
- Lane, Christel/Jocelyn Probert, 2006: Domestic Capabilities and Global Production Networks in the Clothing Industry: A Comparison of German and UK Firms' Strategies. In: Socio-Economic Review 4, 35–67.
- Lash, Scott, 1994: Reflexivity and its Doubles: Structure, Aesthetics, Community. In: Ulrich Beck/Anthony Giddens/Scott Lash (eds.), *Reflexive Modernization, Politics, Tradition and Aesthetics in the Modern Social Order.* Cambridge: Polity, 110–173.
- Luhmann, Niklas, [1984]1995: Social Systems. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- MacKenzie, Donald/Graham Spinardi, 1995: Tacit Knowledge, Weapons Design, and the Uninvention of Nuclear Weapons. In: *American Journal of Sociology* 101(1), 44–99.
- McRobbie, Angela, 1998: British Fashion Design: Rag Trade or Image Industry? London: Routledge.
- Palpacuer, Florence/Peter Gibbon/Lotte Thomsen, 2005: New Challenges for Developing Country Suppliers in Global Clothing Chains: A Comparative European Perspective. In: *World Development* 33(3), 409–430.
- Peters, Enrique Dussels/Clemente Ruiz Durán/Michael Piore, 2002: Learning and the Limits of Foreign Partners as Teachers. In: Gary Gereffi/David Spener/Jennifer Bair (eds.), Free Trade and Uneven Development: The North American Apparel Industry after NAFTA. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 224–245.lpr im Text Hrsg.-Folgel
- Rothenstreich, Nathan, 1977: *Theory and Practice: An Essay in Human Intentionalities.* The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff.
- Sassen, Saskia, 2001: The Global City. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

- Schatzki, Theodore/Karin Knorr Cetina/Eike von Savigny (eds.), 2001: *The Practice Turn in Contemporary Theory*. London: Routlege.
- Schmitz, Hubert/Peter Knorringa, 2000: Learning from Global Buyers. In: *The Journal of Development Studies* 37(2), 177–204.
- Schrank, Andrew, 2004: Ready-to-Wear Development? Foreign Investment, Technology Transfer, and Learning by Watching in the Apparel Trade. In: *Social Forces* 83(1), 123–156.
- Schütz, Alfred, [1932]1976: *The Phenomenology of the Social World.* London: Heineman Educational Books
- —, 1962: Collected Papers I: The Problem of Social Reality. The Hague: Nijhoff.
- —, 1964: Collected Papers II: Studies in Social Theory. The Hague: Nijhoff.
- —, [1966] 1975: Collected Papers III: Studies in Phenomenological Philosophy. The Hague: Nijhoff.
- —, 1996: Collected Papers IV. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Schütz, Alfred/Thomas Luckmann, 1973: *The Structures of the Lifeworld.* Two Volumes, Evanston: Northwestern University Press.
- Shapiro, Ian/Judith Wagner DeCew (eds.), 1995: *Theory and Practice*. New York: New York University Press.
- Sillitoe, Paul, 1998: The Development of Indigenous Knowledge: A New Applied Anthropology (in Anthropology and the Indigenous). In: *Current Anthropology* 39(2), 223–252.
- Skov, Lise, 2002: Hong Kong Fashion Designers as Cultural Intermediaries: Out of Global Garment Production. In: *Cultural Studies* 16(4), 553–569.
- ——, 2003: Fashion-Nation: A Japanese Globalization Experience and a Hong Kong Dilemma. In: Carla Jones/Ann-Marie Leshkowich/Sandra Niessen (eds.), *Re-Orienting Fashion: The Globalization of Asian Fashion*. Oxford: Berg, 215–242.
- Slater, Don, 2002: Capturing Markets from the Economists. In: Paul du Gay/Michael Pryke (eds.), *Cultural Economy, Cultural Analysis and Commercial Life.* London: Sage, 59–77.
- Slater, Don/Fran Tonkiss, 2001: Market Society, Markets and Modern Social Theory. Cambridge: Polity.
- Swidler, Ann/Jorge Arditi, 1994: The New Sociology of Knowledge. In: *Annual Review of Sociology* 20, 305–329.
- Tokatli, Nebahat/Yonca Boyaci Eldener, 2004: Upgrading in the Global Clothing Industry: The Transformation of Boyner Holding. In: *Competition and Change* 8(2), 173–193.
- Weber, Max, [1923]1981: General Economic History. New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers.
- White, Harrison, 1970: Chains of Opportunity: System Models of Mobility in Organizations. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- ——, 2002: Markets from Networks: Socioeconomic Models of Production. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Yoruk, Deniz, 2001: Patterns of Industrial Upgrading in the Clothing Industry in Poland and Romania. London: Centre for the Study of Economic & Social Change in Europe of the Working Paper Nr. 19.

#### Recent Titles in the Publication Series of the MPIfG

#### **MPIfG Discussion Papers**

DP 06/8
P. Manow, H. Döring
Electoral and Mechanical
Causes of European Parliament
and Council Divisions: Divided
Government European Style?

DP 06/7
R. Mayntz
Einladung zum Schattenboxen:
Die Soziologie und die
moderne Biologie

DP 06/6
J. Berger
Warum sind einige Länder so viel reicher als andere?
Zur institutionellen
Erklärung von Entwicklungsunterschieden

DP 06/5
S. Avdagic
One Path or Several?
Understanding the Varied
Development of Tripartism in
New European Capitalisms

DP 06/4 H. Döring The Composition of the College of Commissioners: Patterns of Delegation

DP 06/3 S. Burkhart, P. Manow Veto-Antizipation: Gesetzgebung im deutschen Bikameralismus

### **MPIfG Working Papers**

WP 06/7 C. Woll Trade Policy Lobbying in the European Union: Who Captures Whom?

WP 06/6 S. Burkhart, P. Manow Was bringt die Föderalismusreform? Wahrscheinliche Effekte der geänderten Zustimmungspflicht

WP 06/5 G. Möllering Das Aufheben von Ungewissheit als Kern des Vertrauens: Just do it?

WP 06/4
J. Beckert
Sind Unternehmen sozial
verantwortlich?

WP 06/3
A. Broscheid, D. Coen
Lobbying Systems in the
European Union:
A Quantitative Study

WP 06/2 F. W. Scharpf Nicht genutzte Chancen der Föderalismusreform

WP 06/1 S. Ganghof The Politics of Tax Structure

#### **MPIfG Books**

J. Beckert, B. Ebbinghaus, A. Hassel, P. Manow (Hg.) Transformationen des Kapitalismus. Festschrift für Wolfgang Streeck zum sechzigsten Geburtstag Campus, 2006

#### S. Hiß

Warum übernehmen Unternehmen gesellschaftliche Verantwortung? Ein soziologischer Erklärungsversuch Campus, 2006

J. Beyer Pfadabhängigkeit: Über institutionelle Kontinuität, anfällige Stabilität und fundamentalen Wandel Campus, 2006

B. Ebbinghaus Reforming Early Retirement in Europe, Japan and the USA Oxford University Press, 2006

C. Crouch, W. Streeck (eds.) The Diversity of Democracy: Corporatism, Social Order and Political Conflict Edward Elgar, 2006

G. Möllering Trust: Reason, Routine, Reflexivity Elsevier, 2006

# **Ordering Information**

MPIfG Discussion Papers
Order printed copies from the MPIfG (you will be billed) or download PDF file from the MPIfG website (free).

MPIfG Working Papers
Online at the MPIfG website.

MPIfG Books
At bookstores; abstracts on the MPIfG website.

www.mpifg.de Go to *Publications*.

#### **New Titles**

Consult our website for the most complete and upto-date information about MPIFG publications and publications by MPIFG researchers. To sign up for newsletters and mailings, please go to *Service* on the MPIFG website. Upon request to info@mpifg.de, we will be happy to send you our Recent Publications brochure.

#### ERPA

MPIfG Discussion Papers and MPIfG Working Papers in the field of European integration research are included in the *European Research Papers Archive (ERPA)* which offers full-text search options: http://eiop.or.at/erpa.